

Ezafus,

Women, Workers, Humans: The Road to Decent Working Conditions for Domestic Workers in Indonesia

A Research Paper presented by:

Melisa Try Hatmanti

(Indonesia)

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for obtaining the degree of MASTER OF ARTS IN DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

Major:

Social Policy for Development (SPD)

Women and Gender Studies

Members of the Examining Committee:

dr. Karin Astrid Siegmann dr. Gerard McCarthy

The Hague, The Netherlands
December 2023

Disclaimer:

This document represents part of the author's study programme while at the International Institute of Social Studies. The views stated therein are those of the author and not necessarily those of the Institute.

Inquiries:

International Institute of Social Studies P.O. Box 29776 2502 LT The Hague The Netherlands

t: +31 70 426 0460 e: info@iss.nl w: www.iss.nl

fb: http://www.facebook.com/iss.nl

twitter: @issnl

Location:

Kortenaerkade 12 2518 AX The Hague The Netherlands

Contents

List of Tables				
List of Acronyms	v			
Acknowledgement	vi			
Abstract				
Chapter 1 Why Domestic Worker? A Prologue	1			
Chapter 2 Being Domestic Workers in Indonesia	3			
2.1. The Problems	3			
2.2. The Need to Understand Them	5			
2.3. Research Question	6			
2.4. Relevance to Development Studies	7			
Chapter 3 Methodology and Methods	8			
3.1. Qualitative Interview	8			
3.2. Process of Obtaining the Data	8			
3.3. Participants	10			
3.4. Ethical Considerations	11			
Chapter 4 The Concept of Decent Work for Domestic Workers	12			
Chapter 5 The Journey to Becoming Domestic Worker	15			
Chapter 6 Having a Good Salary Means Decent Work?	18			
Chapter 7 Beyond Salaries	22			
7.1. Mental Harassment	22			
7.2. Working Hours and Holiday	25			
7.3. The Role of the Union	27			
Chapter 8 The Meaning of Being Part of the Family	31			
Chapter 9 Conclusion and What Can We Learn So Far	35			
References				

List of Tables

Table 1. List of Participants Interviewed				
Table 2. Summary of Minimum Wage in Provinces in Indonesia per Month	19			

List of Acronyms

ILO International Labor Organization

Jala-PRT Jaringan Nasional Advokasi Pekerja Rumah Tangga (National Network

for Domestic Workers Advocacy)

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to thank Allah SWT for giving me the strength, motivation, and for making me think that everything is possible if you really want to achieve it so bad. Making this thesis was very challenging for me and I would like to thank specifically to these people who supported me and loving me.

- 1. I want to thank my parents, my mom, Mulyanah Mukrie, and my dad, Musfihin Dahlan, for their endless support and for trusting every decisions that I made in life. Thank you for believing your one and only daughter in achieving her dreams.
- 2. I want to thank Kak Syifa for helping me with this thesis. Without her, I bet I wouldn't be able to find participants for my research. Thank you Kakak! And also for always listening to me.
- 3. I want to thank my siblings, Kak Hilldi and Bang Egi, and also Zahir and Hikari for giving me rainbows and sunshine!
- 4. Thank you also to my supervisor Karin, who is also my mentor and my convenor! Thank you for guiding me as well as giving me the opportunity to learn about domestic workers!
- 5. Special thanks for Mba Tamara!!!!!! Thank you for listening to me and for helping me with this research. Without you I wouldn't be able to survive making this thesis.
- 6. For Blackmarket! Mba Ela, Ismi, Haliza and our manager, Wulan and Salma. Thank you for making my days always filled with laughter until my stomach hurts and a lot of gossiping!
- 7. Thank you PPI KDH! The best PPI ever and forever!
- 8. Very special thanks also to Jala PRT for giving me the chance to get to know domestic workers in Indonesia and also to my participants whose names I cannot write here. Thank you for trusting me to learn about your stories!
- 9. And lastly, I want to thank this special person, Annadi Muhammad Alkaf, who suddenly popped up into my life out of nowhere in the middle of making this thesis and making my life a bit more colourful than usual. ☺

Den Haag, November 15th, 2023

Abstract

This study focuses on the exploration of the understanding of decent working conditions for domestic workers in Indonesia. The concept of decent working conditions as defined by the International Labour Organization is extensively used in this study. Through a qualitative approach, ten Indonesian domestic workers were interviewed, of whom four are affiliated with the union and six are not. The findings of this study reveal that there are similarities and differences among these Indonesian workers about their understanding of decent working conditions, especially for those who are part of the union and those who are not. Nevertheless, they share one commonality: financial difficulties made them enter the domestic worker job sector. While many believe a standard salary can be considered a decent working environment, after a thorough exploration, these Indonesian domestic workers also have other needs, such as being able to work in a safe environment without any mental harassment and having time off and holidays. The contribution of the union to shaping the understanding of decent working conditions for domestic workers is also discussed in this study. Lastly, the most interesting finding is that being included in the family, according to Indonesian domestic workers, is important, and they consider this as decent. In conclusion, these findings created a big question: "What is the real definition of decent work conditions?"

Keywords

Domestic workers, decent working condition, domestic worker's perspective, reproductive work, Marxist-feminist

Chapter 1 Why Domestic Worker? A Prologue

"Domestic worker also becomes a silent bystander in moments of absolute intimacy and an addressee of emotions and feelings circulating in the household" (Gutierrez-Rodriguez, 2014:49).

When I was little, my parents were busy working, so they did not have time to take care of me on a daily basis. So, I grew up with my domestic workers. At that time, I had two domestic workers, in which one of them is still working with my family until now. I called my domestic workers as "Mba", which is a term that can be used to call an older sister.

My domestic worker who took care of me has been working with my family for about 19 years. She started working with my family when I was just 8 years old, in which I always considered her as part of the family. I have never once thought of my domestic worker as someone who is working in my house because they took care of me like my own parents or siblings, and we have a very close bond. She saw me growing up in every stage of my life, from a little kid, teenager, until I am an adult now.

Until recently, when I started my master's journey at the International Institute of Social Studies, I have come to realize that I needed to improve my perspective towards my domestic worker. I took the class Gender at Work that discuss about domestic worker and it made me reflect a lot on my thoughts, my standpoint, and my beliefs. I did not realize how invisible my domestic worker was. I thought that by respecting her and treating her like my own family were enough. Maybe my domestic worker had no problem with how my family treated her and welcomed her as part of the family, but because I now know that the work that she does is really important, I want to respect her as a worker.

Imagining walking on her shoes, working for the same family for the past 19 years in the same space with the same people, doing the same job again and again, made me realize that it takes another level of patience and endurance to do that.

I discovered that the term that domestic workers are doing is called "reproductive work". Reproductive work was such an unfamiliar term for me, and in my experience, looking at my friends and my community, this term is more or less invisible to many people. I realized that my background as a financial economist played a big role in building my worldview and my understanding of certain job sectors because I had never thought of looking at domestic work as a real job. We were never taught that they are part of what makes the economy and society stronger. It has always been about GDP, profits, development, and so on, but we never talk about the people who work in a shadow, like domestic workers, when in fact they are pretty much the backbone of this productive economy. Without them, people who work 9–5 jobs would not be able to have the freedom to do what they want.

When I was still exploring about domestic workers, I came across Bastari's (2018:45) research that explained that "domestic workers cannot also be seen as working for the users because they do not provide economic value in form of profits like factory workers provide benefits to factory owners." His research brought a new insight, and it made me reflect on myself and the reasons why domestic workers have always been in the shadows and invisible to society.

In constructing this research, I will use my personal experiences and reflections as part of autoethnography to help with my analysis and in-depth exploration. I acknowledged that my positionality as someone who employs a domestic worker will create a strong power relationship in developing this research, but as Løgstrup (1956:53 in Brinkmann, 2007:130) stated "It is impossible to avoid having power over the person with whom we associate". Thus, by recognizing my position, I will try my best to put myself in their position and to understand their stories.

I hope that with this research, I will be able to bring voices to the Indonesian domestic workers through their stories and their experiences, their voices that are unheard, that we are often underly because we seldom pay attention to them. However, this research is not covering and will never be representing all of the domestic workers in Indonesia, but it will still bring voices to some of the Indonesian domestic workers through their stories and their experiences, and this can still be something that we can learn.

Chapter 2 Being Domestic Workers in Indonesia

2.1. The Problems

"Servant", "maid", and "helper" are terms that are usually given to domestic workers in Indonesia. Before being known as domestic worker, or in Indonesian *Pekerja Rumah Tangga* (PRT), the term *Pembantu Rumah Tangga* (PRT) or household servant was commonly used and normalized in Indonesia (Gastaldi et al., 2022:120). Even until now, the term household servant remains mainstream and broadly used. In 2015, International Labor Organization (ILO) released a report that there were about 4.6 million of domestic workers in Indonesia, however, the National Network for Domestic Workers Advocacy (Jala-PRT) through their rapid assessment found that in actual there were more than 10.8 million of domestic workers in Indonesia and 67% middle to middle upper class families in Indonesia employed domestic worker (Ujianto, 2019:112). In addition to that, Statistic Indonesia stated that 90% of domestic workers in Indonesia are dominated by women (ANTARA News, 2023).

According to Editorial Jurnal Perempuan (2017:3), many domestic workers in Indonesia originate from rural areas and migrate to cities because of their background of poverty and low education. Due to their low levels of education, a lot of Indonesian domestic workers are not aware that the job that they are doing can be considered a real job, as a result, they work without clear or no work contracts (Editorial Jurnal Perempuan, 2017:3). Additionally, because of the stereotypes that associate domestic work as natural women's work, "feminine virtue", and tasks that are usually performed by mothers without getting paid (Editorial Jurnal Perempuan, 2017:3), domestic work is still widely not considered as real work. Their social status also put domestic workers at the bottom of the social strata (Hikmawan and Ramadhan, 2022:787). Most Indonesian employers also apply a system in which they see and treat their domestic workers like their own family by having them live in their house (Jordhus-Lier, 2017:247). This further blur the lines between working and not working, being included and not included, and being part of the family while at the same time an outsider.

The high number of domestic workers in Indonesia suggests that this type of job has the potential to become a formalized sector, offering employment opportunities, especially for women. However, according to Jordhus-Lier (2017), the contribution of Indonesian domestic workers to society is still limited and is not seen as adding value to the economy, which is why society does not consider domestic work a real job. In reality, domestic workers play a significant contribution to both the society and the economy. As mentioned by Bastari (2018:46), "Domestic workers allow the wheels of economy to run." The presence of domestic workers not only allows employers to be more productive and generate more economic value, but they also offer crucial caregiving and housekeeping services, in which they might not be able to manage if they have to include household chores in their daily activities.

As society still does not recognize domestic work as a legitimate form of employment, until now, the working conditions for domestic work are still far from being acceptable (Pelupessy, 2017:228). From 2017 to 2022, Jala PRT recorded 1,635 cases of multi-violence against domestic workers in Indonesia which resulted in fatalities. Apart from that, there were 2,021 cases of physical and psychological violence, and 1,609 cases of economic violence (such as non-payment or withholding of wages) (Metrotvnews, 2022). This shows that many violations often occur towards domestic workers as currently, there are no specific regulation to regulate domestic worker's work arrangement, protection, and rights. Adding to that, violations might occur due to the domestic workers' workspace as they tend to live in their employers' house. This situation makes them invisible and not exposed to inspection or interaction with their co-workers. As stated by Peggie Smith in "Introduction: Regulating Decent Work for Domestic Workers," it is still hard to recognize and to regulate homes as workplaces, especially when the homes are not the workers' own (Blackket, 2017:36).

Hofi et al. (2013:5) discussed that due to the non-existence of regulation on the minimum wage, most Indonesian domestic workers usually receive payments less than the country's standard minimum wage. Azhari and Alim (2021:179) also stated that many domestic workers in Indonesia received wages less than 1 million rupiah (64 USD), which is way below the standard national minimum wage set by the government. Furthermore, even with the low wage, they also have to work for excessive long hours, which can be up to 14-18 hours a day (Bastari, 2018:38), and they also have to endure having no holidays, annual leave, or time off during the weekend (Ujianto, 2019:120).

Several laws in Indonesia actually have the potential to address the rights of domestic workers, but up to this point, these laws have failed to recognize and regulate domestic workers in Indonesia. The first law is Law Number 13 of 2003 concerning Manpower. This law was intended to stipulate standard rights for workers in Indonesia, but failed to cover domestic workers in their scope, as their work is not considered to produce tangible objects or services that provide added value to economy (Hanifah, 2020:198). The second law is Law Number 23 of 2004 concerning the Elimination of Domestic Violence. This law is the only law that explicitly recognize domestic workers in one of its clauses, but this is due to the fact that the law focuses on domestic violence, where domestic workers are considered to be part of the family (Afifah, 2018:61). The third law is Regulation of the Minister of Manpower No. 2 of 2015 concerning Protection of Domestic Workers. This regulation has the potential to be a legal breakthrough to protect domestic workers, but the government has not yet been able to implement the regulation as the legal framework is still weak to provide optimal legal protection for domestic workers (Ismiatun and Alamsyah, 2017:138). Moreover, the focus of this regulation tends to center more on the provisions of the Channeling Agency rather than addressing the rights and interests of domestic workers (Azhari and Halim, 2021:185).

Despite the lack of laws that recognize domestic workers, the House of Representatives in Indonesia issued a draft of the Domestic Worker Protection Bill in 2004. This proposed law aims to specifically address the rights of domestic workers in Indonesia and is expected

to officially recognize domestic work as a formal job. However, the bill has yet to be formally legalized. According to Jala-PRT, the bill has undergone 78 revisions since it was first drafted in 2001. The revisions have ranged from following the standards of the International Labor Organization (ILO) Convention 189 on domestic workers' protection to simply regulating the basic protections of domestic workers in Indonesia. Many organizations, such as Jala-PRT and Sapu Lidi, have voiced their advocacy to push the government to finally legalize the domestic protection bill after about 19 years since its initiation (Project Multatuli, 2022). President Joko Widodo has expressed his assurance that the bill will be passed this year (Viva, 2023).

According to ILO through Domestic Workers Convention 2011 (No. 189), a decent working condition for domestic workers should include various aspects, such as having a contract, minimum wage, no deductions in their wage, access to employment benefits, a standardized working hour, provision of annual and sick leave, standardized facilities, among others. However, even with the existence of the convention, it does not guarantee that domestic workers themselves understand their entitlement to such standards in their work, which is why a lot of domestic workers often lack bargaining power and remain unaware of their rights (Afifah, 2018:54). Muryanti et al. (2015:449) discussed that due to the long-standing cultural history, many Indonesian domestic workers form emotional attachments to their employers. This bond is influenced by a cultural practice called "ngenger," where families would send their daughters to work in other households in exchange for education and improved living conditions. As a consequence, many domestic workers in Indonesia tend to prefer a familial relationship rather than a formal employer-employee relationship (Muryanti et al., 2015:450). This situation makes it increasingly difficult for domestic workers to be recognized as workers like formal workers and makes their relationship with their employers more ambiguous, which ultimately results in work relationships resulting in an absence of measurable worker rights (Hanifah, 2020:195).

2.2. The Need to Understand Them

Gastaldi et al. (2022:121) discussed that many of domestic workers in Indonesia embody multiple marginalized identities, such as they were mostly women, from low-income households, and they were usually internal migrants from areas with low levels of educations. Understanding domestic workers from their point of view is important because through their stories we can learn about their needs, whether they are satisfied with their working conditions, or what is it that they really want to improve when they work as a domestic worker.

Harding (2005:221) discussed that, "The activities of those at the bottom of such social hierarchies can provide starting points for thought - for *everyone's* research and scholarship - from which humans' relations with each other and the natural world can become visible. This is because the experience and lives of marginalized peoples, as they understand them, provide particularly significant *problems to be explained* or research agenda." In addition to that, Harding

(2005:222) also mentioned that "if we start from women's lives, we can generate questions about why it is that it is primarily women who are assigned such activities and what the consequences are for the economy, the state, the family, the educational system, and other social institutions of assigning body and emotional work to one group and "head" work to another." Harding's (2005) study actually applied to domestic workers in Indonesia, because not only are they considered to be a marginalized community, but they are also "primarily women," and they are usually the ones who are assigned to domestic work. As mentioned in the previous section, domestic workers in Indonesia are prone to various types of violence, including economic, psychological, and sexual harassment. Even with the risks, many women still choose to pursue this job, and why is that so? Therefore, this research will bring out their voices through their stories in order to really understand them as well as making them more visible in scholarly discussion.

Through this research, I aim to discover how well the Indonesian domestic workers understand their entitlement as workers and how well they understand decent working conditions. Employing domestic workers is something that is common for the people in Indonesia, but despite this, many people are not aware that domestic work should also be recognized a legitimate job. People tend to overlook the importance of domestic work in sustaining the economy and productivity of society, and the term "reproductive work" is still unfamiliar to most Indonesians. Ironically, as discussed above, most domestic workers in Indonesia also do not recognize themselves as workers, but they consider themselves to be helping one family, which is why they are invisible as workers and work in a shadow to help this productive world.

Understanding the Indonesian domestic workers' point of view on how they see decent work is crucial, because despite the discussion and debate on what decent work should be, we should also know what they truly need when they decide to enter domestic work. They might have different lenses in seeing and understanding their jobs, and this is important in order to figure out what is right for them, especially if the Domestic Protection Bill will be passed and implemented for them later on.

2.3. Research Question

"How do Indonesian domestic workers" understand decent working condition?"

With all the problems surrounding domestic workers in Indonesia, it brought me to this research question. As this research is exploratory, this research question is only a big umbrella to guide me into exploring the stories of the domestic workers that I interviewed. My main

-

¹ Here to make it simpler, I used the term "Indonesian domestic worker" to refer to my research participants who came from Jakarta, Banten, Depok, Lampung, and Makassar. I will use this term throughout my research, however, it is important to note that this research will not cover or represent all domestic workers in Indonesia.

goal, as mentioned already above, is to bring voices to the domestic workers in Indonesia and to really understand their needs from where they stand.

2.4. Relevance to Development Studies

Quoting again from Bastari (2018:46) "Domestic workers allow the wheels of economy to run", this research is relevant to development studies because domestic workers are a group of people who, even though considered invisible, actually make a really big contribution to society. Additionally, this study will not only highlight the stories, voices, and viewpoints of Indonesian domestic workers, but it will also contribute to a greater understanding of decent working conditions among domestic workers in Indonesia. Furthermore, it adds to the field of gender studies by addressing gender injustices in the workplace and bringing the Marxist feminist perspective on domestic workers.

Chapter 3 Methodology and Methods

3.1. Qualitative Interview

To obtain the stories of domestic workers in Indonesia, this research adopts a qualitative interview as a tool for data collection through a semi-structured, in-depth interview method. A semi-structured interview was conducted because I wanted to gain a comprehensive understanding of Indonesian domestic workers' experiences, giving them the freedom to talk about themselves while also addressing my research question. My interview questions consisted of 10 sets of open questions that I did not necessarily have to follow, but I used them as a way to communicate and to obtain information needed for my research. As Bernard (2011:156) discussed, a semi-structured interview is conducted by following the question guidelines while still providing the participant with the space to talk more and expand their responses; thus, this method will allow me to maintain consistency with the set of guiding questions while at the same time facilitating an in-depth exploration through the conversations with the domestic workers. In addition to that, this method proved to be time-efficient (Bernard, 2011:158), which was advantageous during the data collection period, as the domestic workers that I interviewed mostly had limited free time, especially for those who live with their employer.

3.2. Process of Obtaining the Data

The data collection for this research was conducted for over one month, from August to September 2023. As this research is an exploration of Indonesian domestic worker experiences, I conducted interviews with ten domestic workers in Indonesia. The participants consisted of six domestic workers who were not affiliated with any organizations or unions and four domestic workers who were from Jala PRT.

The process of obtaining the data was not an easy task, or even difficult, because initially I had planned to use the snowball sampling method to reach out to domestic workers who were not affiliated with unions, but in the field, it turned out that using the snowball sampling method to gather the participants was not applicable within the network of domestic workers that I was familiar with. Similar to the domestic workers who were not part of the union, it was also hard to obtain participants who were from the union. This was because I did not anticipate the obstacles to contacting an organization that is currently actively engaged in campaigns and demonstrations to defend the rights of domestic workers in Indonesia.

When gathering the data from domestic workers who are not part of the union, at first, I had intended to ask my domestic worker to introduce me to her friends who were also a domestic worker. However, little did I know, my domestic worker actually had limited social

life and did not know anyone that also work as a domestic worker. The situation was similar with the domestic worker my brother employed. This was probably because both of my domestic worker and my brother's domestic worker were live-in domestic workers, where they both live in my house and my brother's house. Consequently, I had to change my method in collecting the data and decided to reach out to my friends and my families who employed domestic workers and asked them whether I could interview their domestic workers. I acknowledged that this was my limitation because of the presence of strong power relations between my respondents and me, and there was also a risk that the domestic workers that I interviewed would not be comfortable sharing their experiences. Nevertheless, I also see this as a good finding because, in reality, within the network of domestic workers that I was familiar with, they have limited opportunity to socialize, and their lives were constrained by limited mobility where they only move between their employers' house and their hometowns, especially for the live-in domestic workers. Furthermore, I realized that even if I had successfully used snowball sampling to find my respondents, there would always be power relations between me, as the researcher, and my respondents. This is because, despite my attempt to make my respondents feel comfortable while talking to me, they may still perceive me as an outsider. Despite not being able to use snowball sampling method for all of my participants, I managed to obtain one participant through a connection with one of the domestic workers that my extended family employed. This one domestic worker was the only participant that I did not know the identity of their employer.

As for domestic workers who are part of the unions, I contacted them through Jala PRT, which is the biggest domestic workers union in Indonesia and serves as the umbrella organization for all domestic workers unions in Indonesia. It was a tough process to obtain a permission to interview the domestic workers who were the member of this union. This is because, first, their responses were quite slow, which was expected as they were busy organizing demonstrations to the parliament for the ratification of the Domestic Worker Protection Bill. In addition to that, they have a more immediate material concern, which was to plan a hunger strike to commemorate Independence Day. Secondly, I tried to contact other unions, but they all referred me back to Jala PRT to seek permission. I also tried to approach some of the unionized domestic workers directly, but again, they advised me to ask for formal permission from Jala PRT. This process took more than a month, where I had to keep sending messages every three days to Jala PRT, before I was finally able to hear back from them, get permission, and receive contacts of domestic workers that were part of the union from them. I was finally able to interview four domestic workers from the union, one from Jakarta and three from Makassar. The process of obtaining the participants from Jala PRT was also an interesting finding, because, as it turned out, domestic worker organizations in Indonesia have strong ties; however, due to this, they have very strict policies and bureaucracies when people reach out to them to do interviews.

To collect the data, I conducted online phone interviews with all of the participants. Most of them preferred to be called at night, around 7 to 8 PM, Indonesian time; some also preferred to be interviewed during the day around lunch time, so I had to adjust the time difference, which was a 5-hour difference from the Netherlands. I decided to choose the

online phone call method because I wanted to make sure that my respondents felt comfortable discussing their experiences; apart from that, those who live with their employers did not have time to meet up directly. Some of my participants told me during the phone call that it felt like having a friend accompany them while they were working and did not feel like it was an interview, which made them open up about their hardships and discuss matters they could not typically share with anyone. Other than phone calls, I also sent text messages to some of them for missed questions or clarification purposes.

3.3. Participants

Table 1. List of Participants Interviewed

No.	Name	Union/Non- union	Live in/Live out	Works in	Hometown	Type of job
1.	Mira	Non-union	Live in	South Tangerang	Lampung	Full time
2.	Dita	Non-union	Live in	Jakarta	Tangerang	Full time
3.	Anita	Non-union	Live out	Depok	Depok	Full time
4.	Syana	Non-union	Live in	Jakarta	Lampung	Full time
5.	Yani	Non-union	Live in	Jakarta	Banten	Full time
6.	Rina	Non-union	Live in	Jakarta	Lampung	Full time
7.	Yuni	Union	Live out	Jakarta	Jakarta	Part time
8.	Ari	Union	Live out	Makassar	Makassar	Part time
9.	Sita	Union	Live out	Makassar	Makassar	Part time
10.	Tina	Union	Live out	Makassar	Makassar	Part time

The above table shows the list of participants I interviewed for this research. As seen above, the majority of domestic workers who are not part of the union work full-time, except for Anita. Whereas domestic workers who are part of the union work part-time. Most of the non-union participants also live with their employer, further illustrating how they have limited free time and mobility to socialize beyond their employer's house or workspace.

It is also interesting to see that for those who are part of the union, they work part time, indicating that they have more time to meet people outside of their job and more freedom to socialize, as well as more time for themselves. All of the union members shared that they

were recruited to the organization because of their friends, who initially introduced them to the union, and later influenced them to join the organization.

3.4. Ethical Considerations

In order to protect the privacy of my participants, I decided to anonymize their names, except for Yuni. I asked my participants about their preferences regarding anonymity, five of them told me that they preferred not to use their real names, and some of this came from the domestic workers who work with my families. The remainder said that it did not really matter to them, so, I decided to anonymize all of them. Yuni was the only one who requested not to anonymize her name because she wanted to be known for her story as she is also currently one of the pioneers from Jala PRT, who is also a candidate in the regional parliamentary election in Jakarta. Following the completion of this research, I will delete all of the interviews and data of my participants to protect their confidentiality.

Chapter 4

The Concept of Decent Work for Domestic Workers

This research revolves heavily on the concept of decent working conditions, so what is decent work? In 1999, the ILO introduced the term "decent work" to establish a standard for both formal and informal workers. Through this term, the ILO promotes employment opportunities, fair compensation, and the importance of a safe and healthy working environment. Four components that can measure the condition of decent work include "employment, social protection, worker's rights, and social dialogue" (GHAI, 2003:113). According to Hauf (2015:138), the introduction of decent work gained a positive response because of its inclusiveness towards non-standard employment, informal workers, and unpaid reproductive labour. Additionally, it challenges the male standard Fordism of employment and addresses the needs of informal workers, particularly female marginalized groups (Hauf, 2015:140).

With the launched of "decent work" term, the ILO also adopted this term to Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 (No. 189). The term of decent work can be found in the convention many times. It also incorporates the four components of decent work condition in a more detailed manner that is tailored for domestic workers need. In article 3 of Convention No. 189, it is stated that domestic workers should have the freedom associate and collective bargaining, elimination of forced labour, abolishment of child labour, and eradication of discrimination. Article 3 of Convention No. 189 is in lined with how ILO determined decent work, because it promotes worker's rights as well as social dialogue within domestic workers.

Article 7 of Convention No. 189 provides an even more detailed of standard working conditions that should be applied for domestic workers. This includes:

- the name and address of the employer and of the worker;
- the address of the usual workplace or workplaces;
- the starting date and, where the contract is for a specified period of time, its duration;
- the type of work to be performed;
- the remuneration, method of calculation and periodicity of payments;
- the normal hours of work;
- paid annual leave, and daily and weekly rest periods;
- the provision of food and accommodation, if applicable;
- the period of probation or trial period, if applicable;
- the terms of repatriation, if applicable; and
- terms and conditions relating to the termination of employment, including any period of notice by either the domestic worker or the employer.

In addition to that, Article 10 No. 1 of Convention No. 189 mentioned that domestic workers are entitled to equal treatment to workers in general especially in terms of working hours, overtime payment, paid annual leave, and periods of rest both daily and weekly.

ILO's Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 No. 189 will be ratified and incorporated to the Domestic Workers Protection Bill as the convention will serve as the minimum standard reference regarding domestic workers' rights in Indonesia (Komnas HAM, 2022). In line with C189, the bill proposes standardized working conditions that is created in the context of domestic workers in Indonesia. This standard working condition can be found in one of the articles of Domestic Workers Protection Bill (RUU PPRT), for example Article 11, which demands that Indonesian domestic workers have the rights to:

- practice their own religion;
- standard working hours;
- have annual leave;
- receive holiday allowance;
- receive social health security;
- receive employment social security;
- terminate their contract if the employer violate their contract agreement.

On top of all the lists that ILO's C189 describes on how decent working should be for domestic workers, according to Pape (2016:189), the most important outcome of the convention is to finally recognize domestic workers as workers. This is to prevent them from being exploited and undervalued if they work in an employment relationship (Pape, 2016:190).

In this research, ILO's C189 and the Domestic Workers Protection Bill will be used as a framework to guide a more comprehensive understanding of what it means to have decent working conditions. Both C189 and the Domestic Workers Protection Bill show what Blackett (2017:14) discussed that with these regulations or standards, domestic workers are recognized as workers because it compare their working conditions with any other work, treating them equally.

Despite the very extensive lists and definitions of decent working conditions, we cannot ignore the fact that the concept of decent working conditions is still lacking because, according to Lerche et al. (2012:20), ILO has no power to enforce these laws. Blackett (2017:15) mentioned that adopting this policy is hard because it has to challenge neo-liberal hegemony, and it is difficult to differentiate the working space for domestic workers since they work at home. Burchell et al. (2014:464 in Brill, 2021:17) made a critique of the methodology of how ILO measures decent work conditions because it is not comparable to every country, as some countries have more data while others do not even have sufficient data to compare the working conditions there. Apart from that, there is an ambiguity in the interpretation of how to measure decent working conditions, whether it is for individual workers, for the

characteristics of specific jobs, or for the entire job market as a whole. A research by Monteith and Gisbert (2017), found that according to informal workers, what makes a job "good" depends on the countries social, economic, and political condition. Brill (2021:18) argued that in order to assess the concept of decent work, there should be a recognition of worker's personal experiences.

Furthermore, regardless the critiques and the contradictions, both C189 and Domestic Workers Protection Bill can pave the way for a better "decent" working condition for Indonesian domestic workers and be a starting point to transform the domestic workers working conditions. Brill (2021:22) discussed that "it is important to remember that others have welcomed the concept of decent work, arguing that its breadth and inclusivity opens up space for recognition for new groups of workers on the margins of the global economy, many of whom are women."

Throughout this research, I will use the concept of decent working conditions that is explained by ILO as well as the critiques surrounding it. By following the ILO's concept, I can analyze the understanding of decent working conditions for the Indonesian domestic workers that I interviewed and determine whether they understand that these sets of regulations can protect them as workers. At the same time, I will also include the critiques around the convention because it can help me understand them from their own point of view and what it really means for them to have decent working conditions.

Chapter 5 The Journey to Becoming Domestic Worker

Before delving deeper into the understanding of the working conditions for domestic workers in Indonesia, let me start with their journey on becoming domestic workers. Their journey is important to note because for this reason, they enter this type of job, which is classified as informal employment and is seen as working under the "shadow of people" (Bastari, 2018:48). I discovered that all the participants that I interviewed had the same reason on why they started to work as domestic workers, and that reason was financial difficulty. As discussed by Jurnal Perempuan (2017:3), domestic work is the type of job that is easy to enter for women as it is considered to be their job's nature. The participants that I interviewed entered this job with little idea with the kind of reality they had to face, let alone the working conditions of their jobs. The participants may not have the time to even think about decent working conditions because they all believe that they work in order to survive and to be free from their financial difficulties.

There are some similarities among the ten participants on why they decided to become domestic workers. Some of the respondent shared that they previously owned small businesses in their hometowns but had to close it down due to of bankruptcy. One of my respondents, Mira (non-union), told me that she had to close her small business, which was a small shop, or we usually called it as "warung" in Indonesian, because it went bankrupt. However, because she had to repay a bank loan, she decided to try her luck and move from Lampung (her hometown) to Jakarta to work as a domestic worker. She told me that her husband's salary was insufficient to pay back the loan while also covering her family's expensed. So, she wanted to have a stable income by working as a domestic worker.

"I had a small business, but God says the other way around, my business went bankrupt. I have to pay back the bank and I was afraid I couldn't eat if I had a debt to pay."-Mira (non-union)

A similar story came from Yani (non-union), who decided to work as a domestic worker when her husband passed away, and her son was laid off from his job. She initially had a small shop, same with Mira (non-union), but had to close it down because the business did not go well. She also gambled her luck by going to Jakarta from Banten, without knowing anything about working as a domestic worker. She told me it was her first time working as a domestic worker and she decided to enter this job because she did not want to be a burden to her family, and she wanted to help her children by being financially independent.

"Because my husband passed away, my family faced financial problem. My first son was laid off and he couldn't find a job and I still have a son who is still in high school. I have another son who is working but I don't want to rely on him only." -Yani (non-union)

Another story came from Rina (non-union) and Ari (union). Both of them told me that they decided to start working as domestic workers because they did not want to burden their families and because they wanted to help their families ease their family's financial difficulties. Rina began working as a domestic worker after she graduated from middle school. Her family was a farmer, and she faced financial difficulties to continue her education. She moved to Jakarta with her employer from her hometown, Lampung. Ari also shared a similar story, as she told me that she started working as a domestic worker after graduating from high school because she could not continue her education. However, she did not migrate to another city, as she still lives and works in Makassar.

"Because my parents are farmers, I wanted to help my family's economy. I don't want to be a burden for them, so after I graduated from middle school, I went to Jakarta to work." -Rina (non-union)

"At that time, I had dropped out of school. I actually wanted to continue to high school but my parents couldn't afford it, so I tried to follow my cousin to work as a domestic worker." -Ari (union)

For Yuni (union) and Anita (non-union), both of them started working as domestic workers because they could not rely on their husband's salaries to finance their families. Yuni (union) shared that at that time, her husband was unemployed, so she had to find a way to make money fast so her family could live. Meanwhile, Anita had no choice but to work as a domestic worker because she had to pay for her children's school tuition fees and her husband's salary was insufficient. She was previously a stay-at-home wife before working as a domestic worker.

"I had to do anything to help my husband because he was unemployed. I met my neighbor, and she offered me to become a domestic worker." -Yuni (union)

"Because of COVID-19, my family's economy became difficult. My husband's salary was not enough, so I had to work. It was my first time working as a domestic worker." -Anita (non-union)

The stories of how my participants started working as domestic workers show that they came from similar circumstances. They had little choice but to enter domestic work as it is the easiest or fastest job to secure in order to sustain and to resolve their financial situation. Additionally, as discussed already above, it is more convenient for my participants to work as domestic workers since it involved them doing household chores that they would normally carry out in their own homes. After knowing their stories on how they started working as domestic workers, the next chapter will bring us to the exploration of the understanding of decent working conditions, according to my participants. This will show what, despite having

similar reasons for working as domestic workers, their needs are as domestic workers and what they consider as decent working conditions.

Chapter 6 Having a Good Salary Means Decent Work?

ILO Convention No. 189 Article 11 mentioned that "Each Member shall take measures to ensure that domestic workers enjoy minimum wage coverage, where such coverage exists, and that remuneration is established without discrimination based on sex." When I asked my participants about their understanding of ideal working conditions, surprisingly, most of them, both from the union and non-union, answered that on top of all the standard working conditions mentioned by ILO or Domestic Workers Protection Bill, they think that having a good salary (following the government's standard) is enough to be considered as decent.

The level of understanding among my participants who are not part of the union might vary, but they also shared uniformity with those who are part of the union, which is their need for a better, standardized salary. This is not surprising as all of the participants shared that economic coercion shaped their entry to domestic work, or in other words, they need to work to secure a steady income that can support their families.

Based on the interview with my participants, some of them told me that they said they want to have a better salary as they mentioned that their current salaries were insufficient, especially for those who serve as the financial backbone for their families. Some domestic workers who are not part of a union, expressed that they worked tirelessly, yet their salaries were inadequate. They wished for their employers to increase their salaries, taking into consideration the amount of time they dedicate their time into working.

"If my employer really trusts me as a domestic worker and wants me to work here, I'm okay with her telling me to do a lot of work, but I want my salary to be higher because I need the money." –Anita (non-union)

"Of course, I have many needs, especially because I'm a woman, but I have to send money to my family back home, so I have to a find a way to manage my money, so it will be enough for both of myself and my family. But of course, right now I just need to be grateful that I can have a salary." -Syana (non-union)

Similar to the participants who are not part of the union, Sita, a domestic worker who is part of the union shared that she thinks salary is the most important factor and should be considered as the top priority out of all the regulation in the Domestic Worker Protection Bill. Due to this, she said she wants the Domestic Protection Bill to be passed because the bill can set a standardized salary, so she doesn't have to negotiate with her employer regarding the salaries, as it currently varies depending on the employer.

"If the salary has been determined (in accordance with domestic workers protection bill), I don't need to bargain with the employer anymore, but right now everything is up to the employer".

"Sometimes our salary is still determined based on familial relationship, because they are usually too comfortable with us. Ideally, we should receive wage with according to the hours we spent working".

-Sita (union)

Ari (union), also shared her view about decent working conditions for her:

"Yes, for me, at least the work should be a maximum of 8 hours with salary based on district minimum wage (UMK) or regional minimum wage (UMR)." – Ari (union)

As discussed in the previous chapter, all of the participants that I interviewed started working as domestic workers because of financial difficulties and domestic work provided an easy entry to the job market for them. Because of this, most of the participants think that having a proper salary is enough for them to be considered working in a decent working environment. Mentioned above, Hofi et al. (2013:5) discussed that most of domestic workers in Indonesia received wage less than the standard minimum wage set by the government. This is what really happened to one of my participants who told me explicitly about her salary. Anita (non-union) told me that her wage is around 1 million rupiah, which is actually less than the standard minimum wage in the province. Based on Table 2, because she works in Depok, West Java, her salary is supposed to be a minimum of 1.9 million rupiahs.

Table 2. Summary of Minimum Wage in Provinces in Indonesia per Month

Province	Per month IDR
Jakarta	IDR 4,901,798
Banten	IDR 2,661,280
West Java	IDR 1,986,670
Lampung	IDR 2,633,284
South Sulawesi	IDR 3,385,145

Source: WageIndicator.org

Their needs to have a better salary can be seen as the primary reason of why many of my participants regardless of their understanding of decent working conditions, still put salaries as their top priority. Maybe this can be explained through Marxist theory that says, "to be a worker means to lack access to the means of production, which is just to say that being a worker means to lack economic security" (Chibber, 2022:57). For these domestic workers,

their financial circumstances led them and exposed them to consider working as domestic workers. Additionally, because they need to make a quick cash to sustain their livelihoods, they saw domestic work as a solution for their problem, just like what has been discussed in Chapter 4 about their journey towards becoming domestic workers. In other words, the need to obtain a stable salary fast and work in a field that is easily accessible to enter is their getaway to enter the domestic worker sector.

Similarly, like non-union domestic workers, even though domestic workers who are part of unions understand the concept of decent working conditions and are educated about it, their main concern also often revolve around an improvement in salary. They also think that if they have a good salary, their work can be considered decent, and they can tolerate other aspects as long as they are paid well; thus, they consider this to be the most crucial factor of achieving decent working conditions. From this situation, it can be seen that because for most of my participants, both union and non-union, think that their salaries are not enough to be considered decent, they do not really pay attention to other aspects. Like what Anita (non-union) said that she is willing to do a lot of job as long as her employer can pay her well, because she needs the money to finance her children's needs.

Apart from that, even though the participants that are part of the union clearly understand about decent working conditions for domestic workers, as stated by ILO C189, or the Domestic Workers Protection Bill, we cannot deny that it is also hard for them to think beyond salaries, just like the domestic workers who are not part of the union. While it is beneficial for them to be aware and educated about decent working conditions for domestic workers, because of their primary concern of having a better salary, other factors of decent working conditions seem less substantial to them, or it is just a mere sentence that they do not know when they will finally achieve it, however this will be discussed further in the next chapter. This aligns with the prior discussion above, which says that according to Brill (2021:18), we have to recognize the worker's experience to really understand what it means to have decent work for them.

Back to Sita's (union) statement, where she said she does not want to bargain anymore. For domestic workers who are part of a union like Sita (union), because they are educated and understand about decent working conditions, they have the tools and knowledge on how to negotiate their salaries so they can at least experience decent working conditions. However, they also think that it is better to have a standard salary because they do not have to tirelessly negotiate (like Sita said). Because of this, some of the participants from the union expressed that their employers should be educated about the concept of decent working conditions too. Meanwhile, domestic workers who are not part of the union do not have the bargaining power to ask for a higher salary. Take the example of Anita, (non-union) who has to accept that her salary is way below the standard salary of the province.

All things considered, because all the participants enter domestic work because of their financial difficulties, after working as domestic workers, they told me that they can at least

help their husband, send money back home to their families, be financially independent from their parents, and pay off their debts. Domestic workers might not be an ideal job for them because the salaries are still according to the employer's capabilities, but for some of them, it gave them a stable income that they desperately needed before entering this job. However, even though salary is their top priority, these domestic workers also have other needs when salary is not a problem anymore, which will be discussed in the next chapter.

Chapter 7 Beyond Salaries

'In reality, outside in the field, not everyone gets to experience working in a decent environment. You see, there are a lot of people whose workload is excessive, and their wages don't match the workload, there are a lot of violence happening. I hope we can get to work in decent working conditions." (Yuni, from Jala-PRT)

To have a standardized and sufficient salary by following at least the regional minimum wage might be enough to form the idea of decent working conditions for Indonesian domestic workers, but we cannot deny that they also need other aspects that can make them think that their job is decent. In this chapter, I will explain in great detail the understanding of decent working conditions according to my participants other than salaries.

After talking to my participants about salary, I asked them what other factors they thought could make their job decent. It turns out that their understanding of decent working conditions is not only fixated on salaries but also on many factors that can be found aligning with the standard working conditions according to the ILO's Domestic Workers Convention No. 189, or the Domestic Workers Protection Bill. During the interview, the participants explicitly and implicitly talked about their needs as workers. The big topics that I could summarize based on their interviews are surrounding mental harassment, working hours, and sexual harassment. Apart from that, the participants who are affiliated with the union also mentioned the role of the union in educating them more about their understanding of decent working conditions.

7.1. Mental Harassment

Other than salary, during the interviews, many of the participants told me about their stories of having to deal with their employers. Their stories generate many findings that I can relate to the topic of mental harassment. Based on their interviews, I can derive that for them, decent work also means working in a place where they can feel safe and be treated well by their employer.

Yani (non-union) for example, told me explicitly that she received bad treatment from her employer. While she did not clearly state that what she was experiencing was mental harassment, from her story, I could feel that she had to endure a kind of treatment that should not happen to a worker. She told me that her employer was often in a bad mood, and they usually started to nag at her. Her employer often got mad at her regarding food. They demanded that she finished cooking around 5 AM and put the foods on the table around that time, even though her employer would not eat them until lunch time. She told me that it was really tiring for her to think about what kind of foods she has to cook every day because

her employer does not really tell her what to do (e.g. what to cook) or brief her about her job, but they have such high expectations and put the burden on her.

"I usually finish cooking in the morning, but my employer would only eat it at lunchtime. Sometimes I'm out of ideas of what to cook, so I cook the same menu again and again, but they will start to get mad at me. I asked them what kind of foods they wanted, but they always asked me to think by myself." -Yani (non-union)

There was also a time when her employer called Yani (non-union) a thief because she did not consult with her employer about whether she could use certain cooking ingredients in the refrigerator, even though she used them to prepare meals for her employer.

"I did not understand because my employer always gets mad about foods. That one time we had no food at home because we just came back from an event, my employer's daughter asked me to cook for her. We only had the ingredients that I have to ask permission to my employer if I want to use it, but I decided to cook it because I had no choice and it's for her daughter, I thought she would understand. But when she went home she started to get mad at me and called me a thief." -Yani (non-union)

Other than that, Yani (non-union) told me that she also often thinks of leaving her job because, at times, her employer asked her to feed them, as in how a mother feeds their baby (putting foods in their mouth), claiming they were too busy working and couldn't take a break to eat lunch by themselves. Because of this situation, she told me she could not take it anymore because she often felt humiliated and embarrassed.

"I am so embarrassed and grossed out whenever my employer's daughter asks me to feed her. I don't understand why she can't eat by herself. She's 28 years old." -Yani (non-union)

Due to this, Yani told me that she sometimes wanted to make her story viral on the internet so other domestic workers wouldn't have to experience the same thing as her. She told me that this should not happen to domestic workers as it is far from decent work conditions.

"Sometimes I want to make my story viral on the internet. Like for example in TikTok. I want to tell the government that this kind of employer exist. They might notice me or maybe the President can notice me." -Yani (non-union)

Apart from that, another story from Anita, who also experienced mental harassment, told me that her employer sometimes shouted at her in front of many people when she did not work well, she felt very humiliated.

"(long sighs) I often feel frustrated with my employer. If I could, I really would like to resign from my job, but they won't let me, and I need the money. There was one time when my employer scolded me in front of many people. I felt so humiliated." -Anita (non-union)

Meanwhile, Yuni (union) shared her experienced when she was being mentally harassed. She explicitly said what she experienced was mental harassment. She knew the term "mental harassment" because the union educated her about this matter and made her aware of the types of treatment that employers do that can be considered mental harassment. She told me that her employer mentally harassed her as they suddenly cut her payment and forced her to leave the job because she was late to work for only 5 minutes even though she already told the reason to her employer.

"I was just late for 5 minutes, and they started to scold me and told me to resign from my job. I tried to fight back and asked them for my payment."

From the stories of my participants, it can be observed that they also crave other factors that can make their job environment more comfortable, safer, and eventually decent. They want to work in a place where their employers can treat them as if they are workers, so they will not arbitrarily exploit them or receive unwarranted anger. This is probably where the ILO C189 comes into play, because the concept of decent work, according to them, is to actually prevent this from happening to the workers. In Article 7 of C189, for example, the ILO mentions the type of work to be performed by domestic workers, and the convention requires that there should be terms and conditions relating to the termination of employment, which shows that the Convention can prevent the situations that happened to my participants.

Additionally, it is quite interesting to hear the story from Yani (non-union) who wanted to make her stories viral on social media. Because of what she experienced while working as a domestic worker, she unconsciously displayed an act of resistance. It is quite surprising, considering she is not part of the union. This can actually relate to Marx's theory on how "exploitation is built into the process of class reproduction. So even while the class structure brings social agents together around their material needs, it also locks them into conflict because exploitation tends to generate resistance" (Chibber, 2022:2). Yani's (non-union) experience and how her employer exploited her awakened her to wanting to fight for her rights, as she thinks that her working environment is far from decent. Her situation might actually indicate that, despite her saying that she is fine with working with her employer, in reality, her working environment is far from decent, until it made her think about rebelling against her employer.

Similar to Yani (non-union), Yuni (union) also showed some kind of resistance when her employer forced her to leave but she still insisted that her employer pay her severance. However, she could do this because she had knowledge from the union about what to do in this kind of situation. This actually illustrates that both domestic workers who are part of the union and those who are not in the union have similarities in some aspects. The difference is that those who are part of the union have more support and are more vocal about their resistance to their employer.

7.2. Working Hours and Holiday

Working hours, holidays, and having time off are also conditions that most of my participants talked about. When I asked about their working hours arrangements and whether they are allowed to have holidays, they started to talk about it and expressed how it is still insufficient for them. This may be attributed to the fact that most of my participants live with their employer, so there are no boundaries on when they start and stop working. As stated by the ILO (2021), "domestic workers are less likely to work within the range of normal weekly hours and are more likely to work very short or very long hours." Bastari (2018:38) also mentioned that domestic workers in Indonesia typically have to work 14–18 hours a day. Due to this, my participants also perceive that being able to have time off and holidays is considered decent working conditions for them.

From the interview, I found that for Yani (non-union) and Anita (non-union), having time off and holidays were important for them. Even though both of them in the previous chapter think that having good salaries was enough, being able to rest and having the freedom to take time off were also important for them, especially for their well-being. Yani (non-union) shared that she did not receive any holidays or time off during the weekend. She said she did go home once a year and her employer allowed her, but when she asked for a day off during the weekend, her employer would not let her. The same thing happened to Anita (non-union), who has never received a holiday in the three years she has been working with her current employer. She did not even have annual leave because her employer would not let her.

"I hope people will listen to my suggestion about how employer should treat their worker, especially about the vacation leave for domestic worker, I think employer do not really paid attention to it, when in fact it's something that we really expected as a domestic worker."

"When I asked to have time off because I want to go out on the weekends, my employer sometimes mocked me. They said I wouldn't be able to go anywhere because I don't know anything about Jakarta."

- Yani (non-union)

"But I've never been given the chance, from the first time I worked here. My employer always said I couldn't take a day off. They would not let me, I even have to come and work on Sundays. They always asked me to come." – Anita, (non-union)

The same story also came from Ari (union). She told me that because there is still no regulation regarding domestic workers, sometimes her employer arbitrarily made her work for an extra one or two hours without additional payment. She said she could not refuse her employer as there is no regulation that she can refer to. Even for Ari (union) who is educated because she joined a union, she still could not get away from this type of treatment from her employer.

"But usually, I could not go home straightaway at 4 PM. There is always some extra work to do. Even though I worked here to take care of my employer's child, sometimes they asked me to cook too or wash the dishes. Because of that, I have to work for two or three extra hours without getting paid. They rarely let me go home at 4 PM." -Ari (union)

Yuni (union) also mentioned that even for domestic workers who are part of the union, they still have to bear working for long hours.

"Before I joined the union, I had to work from 7 AM to 7 PM. It was really tiring. After I joined the union, I became more confident to ask my employer to let me go home after 8 hours of work. If I'm not strict with the working time, my employer will definitely give me extra work every day." -Yuni (union)

Based on the stories of my participants, they demonstrate that, as workers, they need time to take a rest. Just like any other worker, domestic workers are also doing repetitive tasks that can lead them to burn out and stress. It highlights how their understanding of decent working conditions is actually beyond "just" salaries; however, due to the working conditions in Indonesia that are far from decent, salary became their primary concern.

This finding can actually correlate to my effort in Chapter 3, during the data obtaining process. I tried to gather my participants who are not part of a union through my domestic worker's network, but it turns out my domestic worker does not really have any friends who also work as domestic workers, and her social life is confined to only the area around my house and her hometown. This is also probably because my domestic worker resides in my house. Despite my parents allowing her to go out during the weekend or have time off whenever she wants, her everyday life is only limited to around my house, which is also her working space. In contrast to most of us, we have our social lives because we go to school or work, and because of that, we have the chance to meet many people. Thus, it can be seen

that working hours affect the everyday lives of domestic workers in Indonesia, especially for those who live with their employer, because not only do they have limited free time, but they also face challenges in socializing due to restricted mobility, which is probably why all of the domestic workers who live with their employers in this research are not affiliated with any union (see Table 1).

Unlike domestic workers who are not part of the union, domestic workers who are part of the union enjoy more freedom and space to socialize because they mostly work part-time (see Table 1). They can differentiate between their home and their working space because they do not live with their employers. Although they mentioned that their working hours are still not regulated and sometimes, they have to work extra hours, in comparison to those who live with their employer, they have more free time. All of the participants who are part of the union shared that they joined the union because their friend introduced them to it.

"Yes, I joined the union because one day my friend asked me to go with her to this meeting. It turned out this organization was full of domestic workers. I decided to join because I like to make new friends. And I did not realize I have been here for quiet sometimes now." -Yuni (union)

"My friend was a leader of the union, because of her I joined the organization." -Sita (union)

This underscores how social life and connection are important for these domestic workers. To sum up, working hours and being able to have a holiday or time off are also essential aspects that domestic workers in Indonesia need in order to finally achieve decent working conditions.

7.3. The Role of the Union

In this section I will discuss the role of the union in making the domestic workers understand about decent working conditions. Concurrently, I will also address the topic of sexual harassment that one of my participants talk about when I asked her about decent working conditions.

The conversation about sexual harassment came to light when I asked about the understanding of decent working conditions among my participants. I did not ask them explicitly about whether they had ever encountered sexual harassment, but one domestic worker, Yuni, who is part of the union, told me about the sexual harassment she experienced as a domestic worker. She mentioned that she had experienced sexual harassment twice. The first incident did not involve her employer but a repairman. The repairman had been called to the employer's house to fix their roof. At that time, Yuni was asked to oversee the repairman, and she

was alone at home. Suddenly, the repairman hugged her and exposed his genitals to her. Her second experience involved her employer, who harassed her by touching her body when she was working. However, she felt the need to share her experiences.

"Yes, to be honest, every time someone interviewed me, I don't mean to ask for a pity when I talked about sexual harassment that happened to me. But you see, we should understand that this kind of violence often occur in the domestic worker sector. It's just that many people can't speak out, because they are too afraid. Many also think that this is a taboo, which makes it embarrassing. But because I am in an organization, I want to reveal to people, so they will understand sexual harassment really exists and that I am a victim." -Yuni (union)

Being a member of the union, Yuni hoped that by sharing her story, she could make a difference someday, especially to advocate for domestic workers' rights.

"If we don't speak up and address the sexual harassment that is happening to domestic workers, how can we receive protection? It's usually taboo to talk about it" – Yuni (union)

Yuni (union) might be the only one who speaks up about her experience with sexual harassment. For this reason, I feel the need to bring this topic up as one of the understandings of decent working conditions for domestic workers in Indonesia. According to Yuni (union), there are a lot of these cases happening, but many chose to stay silent, or they might not be aware that they were being sexually harassed. Maybe some of my participants actually also experienced this, but they chose not to tell me because, like Yuni (union) said, people think it is taboo to talk about this subject.

A lot of sexual harassment cases happened, especially for those who live with their employer, because, like Peggie Smith discussed, it is hard to recognize and regulate homes as workplaces, especially when the homes are not the workers' own (Blackket, 2017:36), which is why a lot of sexual harassment or violence occurs to them, and sometimes it is hard to punish it as there is still no regulation for domestic workers in Indonesia. Like what I have discussed above, Jala-PRT recorded that there are 1,635 cases of multi-violence against domestic workers in Indonesia that resulted in fatalities, some of which may be sexual harassment cases.

This is probably why the union is needed because many domestic workers in Indonesia are not affiliated with organizations or unions, which hinders them to from understanding about decent working conditions for domestic workers (Ujianto, 2019:113). Meanwhile, although I have discussed and mentioned several stories from the domestic workers that are part of the union above, based on the interviews, all of the domestic workers who are part of the union showed that they understood what it means to have decent working conditions

because they learned through their organizations. Yuni (union) is probably the best example, of how the union empower her. Because she is part of the union, she is not afraid to speak up about sensitive matter, because she knows she has the resources and tool needed if something were happened to her. She has her organization to back her up and support her.

Another example of how the union has helped Yuni (union) to fight for her rights was when she was suddenly accused of making her colleague ran away from her employer's house. She was suddenly forced to quit her job, but she felt it was unfair and her employer wrongfully accused her. Her organization helped her to solve this matter by working with pro bono attorney in Indonesia.

"Because I'm part of the organization, I'm not afraid to speak up. I'm not afraid if we have to go to the court to solve unfair treatment for domestic workers like us." -Yuni (union)

"My organization is like my support system. We could work together to help our colleagues if something happened to them, for example, if their employer paid their salaries late."—Tina (union)

In addition to that, when I asked about decent working conditions to other participants who are part of the union, they all knew very well the list of standard working conditions according to the ILO.

"Working a minimum of 8 hours with salaries following the regional or district standard, having a time off, annual leave, menstrual leave, to have social protection, and written work contract." -Ari (union)

"To have social security, health insurance and working contract are really important, but it is still very hard to obtain it here." -Tina (union)

"To have decent working condition means the Domestic Workers Protection Bill should be passed. Everything is in there. If we have the bill to protect us, we will have decent working conditions." Sita (union)

The participants said that having a work contract is important, but it is still hard to obtain because they said that it is not only them who should be educated but also the employer about their existence as workers and their rights to have decent working conditions. However, because of the union, they feel like they have more protection and power to bargain to their employer about their working conditions, which mostly related to salaries.

However, Yuni (union) shared that even though she has more bargaining power because of the union, sometimes she has to hide the fact that she is part of the union because some employers do not want to hire her when they know she is part of the union. This is aligned

with Marxist theory, which says that "a second and equally daunting obstacle is that, in the case of some workers, collective organization might, in fact, make them worse off" (Chibber, 2022:65). It is deeply regretted that although Yuni (union) is already educated and part of the union, because she works as a domestic worker and needs the job in order to survive, she has no choice but to adapt to her employers because it is the only way for her to be hired.

All in all, it can be seen that the union has a role in making domestic workers in Indonesia understand decent working conditions and their entitlement towards it. It might be a long way to go for domestic workers to work in decent working conditions like what the ILO idealized if the Domestic Workers Protection Bill still has not been passed. But by having them educated, they will know their value as workers. Just like Hauf (2015:138) and Brill (2021:22) discussed, the concept of decent work gained a positive response because of its inclusiveness and a breath of fresh air towards recognizing non-standard employment, informal workers, and unpaid reproductive labor, many of whom are women.

Chapter 8 The Meaning of Being Part of the Family

"Relations between domestic workers and users in Indonesia are not considered as industrial relations, but paternalistic." (Bastari, 2018:44)

This final chapter before the ending shall begin with my story with my domestic worker. Previously in the prologue, I elaborated on how my domestic worker has taken care of me ever since I was a little kid, and because of this, it formed the idea that she is related to myself and my family in some way. My family never differentiated her; when she was still unmarried, my family even allowed her to bring her boyfriend to our house as if she were introducing her boyfriend to her own parents. On the weekends, if she wanted to go out, my parents would definitely permit her. The treatment was just like how my parents treated me as their own child. She is also currently living with her son in my house, and my parents treat her son as if he were their grandchild. Even so, I still sense certain boundaries that make me feel that she is not really a part of the family. For example, when my family goes on a holiday, my domestic worker has to stay at home to look after the house. She also has to cook for my family every single day, and my mother often orders her around. In contrast to me, my mother rarely ordered me around, and I am not required to do household chores every day like my domestic worker. However, because my domestic worker considers my family as if it were her own, she is also not afraid to speak up and say no as well as communicate her needs to my family. To me, I still cannot see my domestic worker as a worker because she is beyond just a mere "worker". I do not know whether we can shift this familial relationship into an employer-employee relationship because we have formed such a strong bond for more than 19 years. It made me question whether my family, as an employer, somehow unconsciously exploits her by making her part of the family.

From my own experience, it brings me to one and the most interesting finding that I found from interviewing all my participants and I can somehow relate. Surprisingly just like the story and my experience with my domestic worker, for my participants, both from non-union and who are part of unions and are educated about their rights, they want their employers to treat them as if they are part of the family. They think that by being part of the family, the work that they do feels less burdensome, and they are more comfortable in this kind of work environment, thus, they see this as a positive action instead of a negative action.

"Thank God I met many good employers. So, we are treated like their own family, not like domestic workers, we are not considered workers, but we are considered family." – Sita, (union)

"Thank God, I work while gossiping with my employer. Here, they do not consider us as a domestic worker." – Tina (union)

Another participant also said she felt very welcomed by her employer because they never differentiate her.

"So far, my experiences as a domestic worker was always nice. I always got employers who treated me really well. They never treated me like a stranger, we usually ate together like a family." -Mira (non-union)

It seems that the sense of belonging to one's family, especially for domestic workers who have worked for many years, is important because they have spent more or less half of their lives living with their employers. For example, one of the participants who has worked with her employer for 10 years since she was 16 years old, told me that she likes to work for her employer because they treat her like their own family, and she mentioned this several times.

"Here they consider me like a family, not like a worker. They also pay attention to my health and the food that I eat, so I don't feel like I'm working here; it's just like how we are with our family."

"Yes, even my son lives with me and my employer. My husband also lives here because he works as a driver. My employer really loves my son, they like him because they said the house became livelier."

- Rina (non-union)

Dita (non-union) also said that she felt like she belongs to her employer's family as she already worked for them for 13 years.

"I'm free to do whatever I want in my employer's house, for example, if I'm tired, I will just take a rest. We're like a family and her child that I take care of feels like my own." -Dita (non-union)

Rina's (non-union) experience is very similar to that of my domestic worker; when I interviewed her, it reminded me of my own. Both of them have worked with the same employers for ten years or more, and they even brought their children to live with them. For domestic workers who have worked with their employers for a long time, their understanding of decent working conditions might be to be included in the family because their employers' house has become their comfort zone, as they spent more than half of their lives there. Accordingly, the notion of being part of the family has evolved into their social reality because, for them, being a domestic worker implies being part of the employer's family. This too applies to the other participants, who also said that they like to be treated as if they are part of the family.

While it is not unexpected for domestic workers who are not part of the union to express that they would like to be included in the family, it is actually quite surprising to hear the same thought from those who are part of the union, as they are knowledgeable about the decent working conditions outlined in the Domestic Workers Protection Bill and that there should be boundaries between employer and employee. The family-like preference can be explained by what Muryanti et al. (2015:450) discussed: that implementing regulations for domestic workers in Indonesia may be difficult because it ignores the situation on the field where a family-like relationship has existed for generations, which is still preferable for both employees and employers until now. Additionally, Chen (2011:172) asserted that most domestic workers and their employers share intimate relationships, and many of them are often not regulated because of the agreement between both parties. Lastly, Bastari (2018:44) further explained that this familial relationship between a domestic worker and their employer is because "domestic workers in Indonesia are treated as family members in the household, and the regulation on them is left to family policy, just like the government cannot regulate how parents raise their own children." For these reasons, most domestic workers welcome the idea of being part of the family, even those who are part of the union.

Integrating my personal experience as someone who is from the employer's side, just as I have questioned this in the introduction of this chapter, by making my domestic worker a part of the family leads me to question whether this is some kind of way to exploit her as a worker. Considering the participants' experiences where they prefer to be treated like family and see this treatment as a decent work condition for them, is this justifying the fact that being part of the family means decent work conditions? Or is it just another way to justify modern slavery? The ILO created Convention No. 189 to help recognize domestic work as real work and to finally bring value to domestic workers. As Pape (2016:190) mentioned, the convention aims to prevent exploitation and undervaluation of domestic workers in the eyes of their employers, but in reality, the meaning of decent work for domestic workers in Indonesia is to be included in the family, which automatically may devalue them as a worker. Additionally, according to Chen (2011:172), the unequal employer-employee relationship is often made worse due to racial, class, and citizenship factors that result in a variety of exploitative and paternalistic situations.

Perhaps the idea of being part of the family can be further elucidated by Marxist feminist theory, where it explains that this notion generates a false consciousness and permanent duty for domestic workers in Indonesia. This is because Marxist-feminists suggest that historical patriarchy has long institutionalized gender inequality and division of labor, which undervalued women's labor, viewing it as purely reproductive and performed out of love rather than financial gain (Peterson 2012:15). In addition to that, Marxist-feminist views patriarchy as the capitalist exploitation of domestic workers (Fuchs, 2018:678). Just as Gutiérrez-Rodríguez (2013:191) argues that "the devaluation of domestic and care work is the result of its social perception as 'feminised' labour." Based on the Marxist-feminist perspective, it can be seen that society has assigned domestic work as women's work, where love should be enough

to value it rather than payment. Consequently, this conception somewhat justifies a form of modern slavery by instilling in domestic workers' social reality that being treated like family means decent work. As a result, they often live with their employers, tending to their needs out of a sense of affection, like my domestic worker, who has taken care of me since I was little, or how Dita (non-union) considered her employer's son as if he were her own.

It is undeniable, however, that maybe for the participants that I interviewed, or for domestic workers in Indonesia, that the desire to be seen as a member of the family matter to them and it is actually their need, because all of them feel a sense of belonging when their employer treats them like a family. They even stated that they do not feel like they are working by being treated like a family, it is just how they are with their family. GHAI (2003:113) discussed that safe and healthy working environment should be a part of decent working conditions, and for these domestic workers to be integrated in the family may signifies this. This can actually relate to the concept of moral economy, which according to Sayer (2011, in Bolton et al., 2012:123), "Moral economy can examine the moral and social implications of economic processes and relations for people and their community and how economic practices ought to be to positively affect people's well-being". Through the lens of moral economy, it challenges the discourse of decent working conditions, which suggests that there should be boundaries between employer and employee, meaning they should not be treated like family. However, my participants think that family like relationship with their employer is important, which they consider it as decent working conditions.

Taking Brill's (2021:18) argument again, in order to assess the concept of decent work, there should be a recognition of workers' personal experiences; thus, for domestic workers in Indonesia, for them to be part of the family means decent working conditions. But then, who should define "decent work for domestic workers?"

Chapter 9 Conclusion and What Can We Learn So Far...

What can we learn throughout this journey of trying to understand decent working conditions for domestic workers in Indonesia? As this research is exploratory, I brought to light the voices of Indonesian domestic workers through their stories, opinions, and journeys as women, workers, and humans.

First, in understanding decent working conditions, these Indonesian domestic workers think that when they can receive a salary that follows the standard set by the government, such as the regional or district minimum wage, their working conditions, no matter what, can be considered decent. This is not surprising because economic coercion and financial difficulties forced these domestic workers in Indonesia to enter the domestic job market. The concept of decent working conditions by the International Labour Organization, or Domestic Worker Protection Bill, does not really apply to them because they can only think about how to survive and sustain their lives by working as domestic workers.

Some need the money to finance their children's tuition fees; some have no choice but to work because their husbands are unemployed; and some do not want to be a burden for their families. Despite that, it is actually surprising to also hear that domestic workers who are part of the union think that salary is also the standard for decent working conditions for them. So, is salary really means decent working conditions for these Indonesian domestic workers?

Second, after delving deeper into the needs of these Indonesian domestic workers, it became apparent that they also have a desire in various aspects, such as working in a safe environment and being able to take time off and take holidays. Working in a safe environment means not being mentally harassed by their employers. Both of the workers from the union and non-union shared their stories about being mentally harassed and how they wanted their employers to treat them well and to see them as workers. Meanwhile, for domestic workers who are not part of the union, they have the desire to be able to take time off and holidays because they mostly live with their employer and because of this they have limited time to mobilize and socialize.

These perspectives highlight that the understanding of decent working conditions among these Indonesian domestic workers extends beyond just salaries. Little did they know, they actually show that their understanding is related to the ILO Convention No. 189 about decent working conditions. Apart from that, because these workers were being exploited, they demonstrated some kind of resistance by wanting to fight against the exploitation by their employers. Some wanted to make their stories viral on social media, and those who are part of the union can exercise their rights with the help of the organization.

Thirdly, we cannot deny that the union has the capability of shaping the understanding of decent working conditions for domestic workers in Indonesia. Because of the union, those who are affiliated with it understand that there is a concept of decent working conditions for domestic workers, where, as workers, they are entitled to certain standards that will prevent them from being exploited and keep them safe during the work. This concept will also value them as workers and help them be finally recognized as domestic workers, not as household workers, assistants, or maids.

However, applying these concepts in reality is still hard to do, especially if the employers are not educated about them. So, the education about decent working conditions should be two-way, where it includes both the employer and employee. Like the story of Yuni (union), who has to hide her identity as part of the union in order to be hired as a domestic worker because many employers do not want to hire domestic workers who are affiliated with the union. It might be a long way to go for domestic workers to work in decent working conditions like what the ILO idealized, especially if the Domestic Workers Protection Bill still has not been passed. But at least, by having them educated, they will know their value as workers.

Lastly, in understanding decent working conditions, surprisingly, all of these Indonesian domestic workers welcomed the idea of being part of the family. It is very unexpected to hear it from those who are part of the union because they should have understood that in decent working conditions notions, there is a boundary between employer and employee. This phenomenon can actually be explained in accordance with the study by Bastari (2018:44) that "relations between domestic workers and users in Indonesia are not considered as industrial relations, but paternalistic."

Out of all the findings, this understanding of decent working conditions according to Indonesian domestic workers is the most interesting. Considering how these Indonesian domestic workers prefer to be treated like family and see this treatment as a decent work condition for them, is this some kind of way to justify modern slavery? Or is it a way to justify exploitation? Perhaps this can be explained by Marxist-feminist and moral economy theories. These theories are contradictory to each other, which made me question, "What is the real definition of decent work conditions?"

As a concluding remark, this research has been an eye-opener for myself. Because throughout this research, I have to reflect back on myself as someone who grew up with a domestic worker. I never asked my domestic worker about her needs or whether she was satisfied working with my family. I always assume that she is happy and that she is part of my family. Through exploring the needs and understanding of decent working conditions for domestic workers in Indonesia, I can conclude that they have the same level of understanding. The difference is that for the unionized domestic workers, they know more about the terms and have moral support from the organization. However, for those who are not part of the union, even if they understand about decent working conditions and if they are

being exploited, for example, they do not have any support or friends like those in the union.

To sum up, can we really apply this concept of decent working conditions for domestic workers in Indonesia? Should we first consider the needs of these domestic workers first before applying the concept or should we enforce it so domestic workers can finally be recognized as real workers?

References

- Afifah, W. (2018) 'Eksistensi Perlindungan Hukum Terhadap Pekerja Rumah Tangga di Indonesia' in *DiH Jurnal Ilmu Hukum*, p. 53-67. Available at: DOI 10.5281/zenodo.1188354.
- ANTARA News (2023) *Providing better protection to domestic workers.* Available at: https://en.antaranews.com/news/272589/providing-better-protection-to-domestic-workers
- Azhari, M. Y. and Halim, A. (2021) 'Hak-Hak Pekerja Rumah Tangga dan Perlindungan Hukum di Indonesia' in *Media Iuris*, p. 173-188. Available at: 10.20473/mi.v4i2.25492
- Bastari, G. M., (2018) 'Domestic Worker, Transnational Advocacy and the State of Exception: A Case Study on The Advocacy of Domestic Worker's Rights in Indonesia' in *Indonesian Political Science Review*, p. 37-54. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.15294/jpi.v3i1.11024
- Bernard, H. R. (2011). 'Interviewing I: Unstructured and Semi-structured' in Research Methods in Anthropology: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches, pp. 156-186.
- Blackett, A. (2017) 'Introduction: Regulating Decent Work for Domestic Workers' in *Canadian Journal of Women and the Law*, p. 1-46. Available at: https://www.utpjournals.press/doi/pdf/10.3138/cjwl.23.1.001
- Blofield, M. and Jokela, M. (2018) 'Paid Domestic Work and the Struggles of Care Workers in Latin America', in *Current Sociology*, p. 531-546. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0011392118765259
- Bolton, S. C., Houlihan, M., Lasser, K. (2012) 'Contingent Work and Its Contradictions: Towards a Moral Economy Framework' in *Journal of Business Ethics*, p. 121-132
- Brill, L. (2021) 'What Is Decent Work? A Review of the Literature' in *Decent Work*, p. 11-26. Available at: DOI:10.1108/978-1-80117-586-920211002
- Brinkmann, S. (2007) 'The Good Qualitative Researcher' in *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, p. 127-144. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14780880701473516
- Chen, M. A. (2011) 'Recognizing Domestic Workers, Regulating Domestic Work: Conceptual Measurement, and Regulatory Challenges' in *Canadian Journal of Women and the Law*, p. 169-184. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3138/cjwl.23.1.167
- Chibber, V. (2022) *The Class Matrix*. President and Fellows of Harvard College, the United States of America.

- DW (2020) PRT adalah Pekerja Rumah Tangga, Bukan Pembantu. Available at: https://www.dw.com/id/prt-adalah-pekerja-rumah-tangga-bukan-pembantu/a-53728584
- Editorial (2017) 'Local and Migrant Domestic Worker' in *Jurnal Perempuan*. Available at: 10.34309/jp.v22i3.194
- Fuchs, C. (2018) 'Capitalism, Patriarchy, Slavery, and Racism in the Age of Digital Capitalism and Digital Labour' in *Critical Sociology*, p. 677-702. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920517691108
- Gastaldi, M., Jordhus-Lier, D., Prabawati. D. (2022) 'Domestic Workers and Their Struggle for Citizenship and Collective Identity in Indonesia' in *The Politics of Citizenship in Indonesia*, p. 115-132. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-7955-1_6
- GHAI, D. (2003) 'Decent work: Concept and indicators' in *International Labour Review*, p. 113-145.

 Available at: https://www.ilo.org/public/english/revue/download/pdf/ghai.pdf
- Gothoskar (2013) 'The Plight of Domestic Workers: Confluence of Gender, Class and Caste Hierarchies' in *Economic and Political Weekly*, p. 63-75. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/23527913
- Gutiérrez-Rodríguez, E. (2013) 'The Precarity of Feminisation on Domestic Work, Heteronormativity and the Coloniality of Labour' in *International Journal of Politics, Culture, and Society,* p. 191-202. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/24713312
- Hanifah, I. (2020) 'Kebijakan Perlindungan Hukum Bagi Pekerja Rumah Tangga Melalui Kepastian Hukum' in *Jurnal Legislasi Indonesia*, p. 193-208. Available at: https://jdihn.go.id/files/804/jurnal%20hukum_2020_669-2256-1-pb.pdf
- Hauf, F. (2015) 'The Paradoxes of Decent Work in Context: A Cultural Political Economy Perspective' in *Global Labour Journal*, p. 138-155. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15173/glj.v6i2.2327
- Harding, S. (2005) 'Rethinking Standpoint Epistemology: What is "Strong Objectivity"?' in *Feminist theory: a philosophical anthology*, p. 218-236. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483384740
- Himawan, M. D., and Ramadhan, G. (2022) 'A Brief Perspective on the Existence of Indonesian Domestic Worker' in *Journal of Governance*, p. 787-796. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.31506/jog.v7i3.17109
- Hofi, M. I., Wirawan, T., Indryati, R. (2013) 'Perlindungan Hukum Terhadap Pekerja Rumah Tangga Berdasar Atas Hak Azasi Manusia' *in Artikel Penelitian Mahasiswa*, p. 1-6. Available at: http://repository.unej.ac.id/handle/123456789/59103

- International Labour Organization (n/a) 'C189 Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 (No. 189)' Available at: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P1210 0_ILO_CODE:C189
- International Labour Organization (2006) 'The Regulation of Domestic Workers in Indonesia; Current Laws, International Standards and Best Practice. ILO, Jakarta.' Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@ed_norm/@declaration/documents/publication/wcms_decl_wp_26_en.pdf
- International Labour Organization (2021) 'Makin Decent Work a Reality for Domestic Workers' Available at: https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS_802551/lang--en/index.htm
- Ismiatun and Alamsyah, B. (2017) Perlindungan Hukum Terhadap Pekerja Rumah Tangga Menurut Peraturan Menteri Ketenagakerjaan Nomor 2 Tahun 2015 dalam Perspektif Hukum Positif Hukum Indonesia' in *Legalitas Edisi Juni 2017*, p. 113-142. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.33087/legalitas.v9i1.144
- Jordhus-Lier, D. (2017) 'Claiming industrial citizenship: The struggle for domestic worker rights in Indonesia', in *Norwegian Journal of Geography*, p. 243-252. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/00291951.2017.1369453
- Komnas HAM (2022) *Urgensi Ratifikasi Konvensi ILO 189 untuk Pemenuhan dan Perlindungan Hak PRT.* Available at: https://www.komnasham.go.id/index.php/news/2022/9/23/2237/urgensiratifikasi-konvensi-ilo-189-untuk-pemenuhan-dan-perlindungan-hak-prt.html
- Kompas (2023) *Pelindungan PRT, Siapa Peduli?* Available at: https://www.kompas.id/baca/opini/2023/02/04/pelindungan-prt-siapa-peduli?status=sukses_login&status_login=login
- Lerche, J., Guerin, I., Srivastava, R. (2012) 'Labour Regulations and Labour Standards in India: Decent Work?' in *Global Labour Journal*, p. 16-39. Available at: http://digitalcommons.mcmaster.ca/globallabour/vol3/iss1/2
- Metrotvnews (2022) *Data Kasus Kekerasan Terhadap PRT pada 2017-202*. Available at: https://www.metrotvnews.com/play/NA0CX2eL-data-kasus-kekerasan-terhadap-prt-pada-2017-2022
- Monteith, W. and Gisberth, L. (2017) "When the stomach is full we look for respect': perceptions of 'good work' in the urban informal sectors of three developing countries' in Work, employment and society, p. 816-833. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017016650606

- Muryanti, Wahyuni, E. S., Hubeis, A. V. S. (2015) 'Kendala Pelaksanaan Regulasi tentang Pembantu Rumah Tangga (PRT) di Yogyakarta' in *Jurnal Ilmu Syari'ah dan Hukum*, p. 425-457. Availabe at: 10.14421/ajish.2015.49.2.425-457
- Pape (2016) 'ILO Convention C189—a good start for the protection of domestic workers: An insider's view' in *Progress in Development Studies*, p. 189-202. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/1464993415623151
- Pelupessy, P. S., (2017) 'Effort of Domestic Workers to Realize Decent Work: Learning, Organizing and Fighting' in *Jurnal Perempuan*, p. 227-237. Available at: 10.34309/jp.v22i3.194
- Peterson, V. S. (2012) 'Rethinking Theory' in *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, p. 5-35. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14616742.2011.631276
- Project Multatuli (2022) Bagai Sebuah Mimpi Mustahil: Negara Punya PR Melindungi PRT, Lita Anggraini Mengerjakannya. Available at: https://projectmultatuli.org/bagai-sebuah-mimpi-mustahil-negara-punya-pr-melindungi-prt-lita-anggraini-mengerjakannya/
- Rancangan Undang-Undang Republik Indonesia (n/a) 'Perlindungan Pekerja Rumah Tangga'' Available at: https://www.dpr.go.id/doksetjen/dokumen/persipar-RUU-Usul-Inisiatif-DPR-RI-Draft-RUU-TENTANG-PELINDUNGAN-TENTANG-PEKERJA-RUMAH-TANGGA-1679384071.pdf
- Ujianto, A. (2019) 'Pengorganisasian Komunitas Serikat Pekerja Rumah Tangga Sapulidi Dalam Memperjuangkan Situasi Kerja Layak' in *Jurnal Kajian Ruang Sosial-Budaya*, p. 112-127. Available at: 10.21776/ub.sosiologi.jkrsb.2019.003.1.08
- Viva (2023) RUU Perlindungan Pekerja Rumah Tangga Bakal Disahkan Tahun Ini. Available at: https://www.viva.co.id/berita/bisnis/1600463-ruu-perlindungan-pekerja-rumahtangga-bakal-disahkan-tahun-ini
- WageIndicator.org (n/a) *Minimum Wage Indonesia*. Available at: https://wageindicator.org/salary/minimum-wage/indonesia